

# **USER MANUAL**

Standalone application for the simulation of the showers produced in the atmosphere of a planet due to cosmic rays, based on the Geant4 simulation toolkit.







# Athens Cosmic Ray Group National and Kapodistrian University of Athens

2019

# **DYASTIMA Software User Manual**

Athens Cosmic Ray Group Athens Neutron Monitor Station Faculty of Physics National and Kapodistrian University of Athens P.I.: Prof. Em. Helen Mavromichalaki

By:

Dr. Pavlos Paschalis

Anastasia Tezari

2019

DYASTIMA is a free software than can be used by the scientific community with only requirement the use of the following references:

- Paschalis P., Mavromichalaki H., Dorman L.I., Plainaki C., Tsirigkas D.: "Geant4 software application for the simulation of cosmic ray showers in the Earth's atmosphere", New Astronomy 33, 26-37, 2014.
- Agostinelli S., Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Geant4-a simulation toolkit", Nucl. Inst. Meth. A 506, 250-303, 2003.
- Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Geant4 developments and applications", IEEE Trans. Nuclear Sci. 53, 270-278, 2006.
- Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Recent developments in Geant4", Nucl. Inst. & Meth. A 835, 186-225, 2016.
- Geant4, <u>https://geant4.web.cern.ch/</u>

This document provides all the necessary information to the user about the installation and operation of DYASTIMA software. It is issued by the Athens Cosmic Ray Group of the National and Kapodistrian University of Athens to ESA SWE SSA under contract (No 4000113187/15/D/MRP).

Change Log 30/11/2019 Initial Version

## Table of Contents

1. Bri	ef Description	
1.1.	What is DYASTIMA?	
1.2.	Previous versions	5
1.3.	Current version	5
1.4.	DYASTIMA-R	5
2. DY.	ASTIMA Federated Product	7
3. Ins	tallation	14
3.1.	How to install DYASTIMA	
3.2.	Requirements	14
4. Exe	ecution	16
4.1.	General information	
4.1.1.	Input	
4.1.2.	Output	
4.2.	Description of the simulation scenario	
4.2.1.	Scenario ID	
4.2.2.	Planet tab	
4.2.3.	Spectrum tab	
4.2.4.	Simulation Tab	20
4.2.5.	Energy Cuts Tab	22
4.2.6.	Results Tab	22
4.2.7.	Geant4 Required Files	23
4.3.	Execution of the simulation scenario	24
4.3.1.	Simulation Tab	24
4.3.2.	Export Results Tab	26
4.3.3.	Dosimetry Extension Tab	26
5. Ref	erences	

#### 1. Brief Description

#### 1.1. What is DYASTIMA?

DYnamic Atmospheric Shower Tracking Interactive Model Application (DYASTIMA) is a standalone software application for the Monte Carlo simulation of the showers produced in the atmosphere of a planet due to the interaction of cosmic radiation particles with the atmospheric molecules [1].

The study of the atmospheric showers (Figure 1) during quiet or disturbed periods of solar activity and Space Weather phenomena is of great importance due to the multiple effects on technological and biological systems.



Figure 1: Graphical representation of the cascades of secondary particles produced in the Earth's atmosphere due to the interaction of primary cosmic rays with the atmospheric medium.

The software is implemented in C++ by Dr. Pavlos Paschalis and is based on the Geant4 simulation toolkit [2][3][4]. Geant4 can be used in various applications, such as space science, medical physics, nuclear physics and high energy physics, etc. and constitutes an excellent environment for the simulation of atmospheric showers. It covers high and lower energy ranges providing therefore a great variety of options and accuracy as well as good support and updates. More information about Geant4 are available at <a href="https://geant4.web.cern.ch/">https://geant4.web.cern.ch/</a>.

#### 1.2. Previous versions

DYASTIMA is graphical user interface (GUI) – based application, which can be easily operated even by non – experienced users.

Nevertheless, the first version of DYASTIMA required input via .text files and atmosphere with constant composition (only Earth's atmosphere). The output was provided in .csv files and resume was not available.

The second version of DYASTIMA includs GUI parameterization and supports atmosphere with varying composition. The results are stored in a database, output is provided in .csv files and the option of resume is available. This version has already been used successfully for the study of the showers in the atmosphere of Earth and Venus [1][5][6]. It can be currently found at the portal of A.NE.MO.S. (http://cosray.phys.uoa.gr/index.php/dyastima).

#### 1.3. Current version

The current version of DYASTIMA includes the functionality of the previous version, better visualization, many improvements concerning not only the graphical user interface but also the code itself, as well as the integration of the DYASTIMA-R component (see 1.4.). The implementation of the simulation is performed with the use of the version of GEANT4 10.4.

It supports extensive parameterization of several input parameters, allowing the simulation of any planet and any input spectra. The output provides all the necessary information about the atmospheric showers, such as number, direction, arrival time, energy and energy deposit of the secondary particles at different atmospheric altitudes allowing radiation dose calculations. A block diagram of DYASTIMA is given in Figure 2.

#### 1.4. DYASTIMA-R

DYASTIMA current version is enhanced by a new feature that allows the calculation of radiation doses within the atmosphere of a planet, introducing the DYASTIMA-R extension.

DYASTIMA-R uses the output provided by DYASTIMA, in order to calculate the energy that is deposited on a cylindrical phantom (water, 1.75 m height, 0.25 m radius). The study of different flight scenarios is possible as DYASTIMA-R calculates the equivalent dose for various types of particles in different atmospheric altitudes and takes into account the phases of solar activity, as well as the geometry and shielding materials of the aircraft [1][7][8].



of the secondary particles at different atmospheric layers



Figure 2: Block diagram of DYASTIMA and DYASTIMA-R applications.

### 2. DYASTIMA Federated Product

Dynamic Atmospheric Tracking Interactive Model Application (DYASTIMA) is a federated product of the European Space Agency of the Space Situational Awareness program of the Space Radiation Expert Service Centre (ESA SSA R-ESC). In order to access DYASTIMA, please visit the ESA SSA portal (<u>http://swe.ssa.esa.int/</u>) and sign in, through a simple Single Sign-On (SSO) procedure.

Cesa space situational awareness	Europer Sent Gener
ESA SSA SWE NEO SST	
About SWE	Welsome to the CCA Create Weether Comise Network
What is Space Weather	Welcome to the SSA Space Weather Service Network
SSA Space Weather Activities	Prease note that an SSA-SWE Services are under review/construction
Current Space Weather	SIDC/RWC-Belgium forecast of 31 Oct 2019, F1
Contact	Latest Ground Level Enhancement Alerts [ANeMoS]
Service Domains	a Real Time GLE ALERT System
Spacecraft Design	National & Kapodistrian University of Athens / Cosmic Ray Group
Spacecraft Operation	I Stlet Company
Human Spaceflight	DATA I POATED EVERY MINI ITE
Launch Operation	percented by cheep
Transionospheric Radio Link	Sence Desception Desception Acconnected enters Acconnect Desception
Space Surveillance and Tracking	General Alert Status Stations Summary
Power Systems Operation	
Airlines	
Resource Exploitation System Operation	QUIET
Pipeline Operation	COURT 1 VAL
Auroral Tourism Sector	
General Data Servic e	5 U 4
Expert Service Centres 🛞	
ESC Solar Weather	
ESC Heliospheric Weather	
ESC Space Radiation	8 4 H
ESC Ionospheric Weather	
ESC Geomagnetic Conditions	§
Other Resources	11441 11446 1151 1154 1221 1234 1221 1234 1221 1236 1221 1238 1231 1234 1238
Documents	Last QLE Alex 2017-05-19 T93:50 Textions in Last QLE Alex WVX KERO BOPD THUS (4) Calific:
SWWT	
SWEN NewsLetter	
Upcoming Events	<>▶ 00000€00000
Sign-In	
You are not signed in.	The carousel provides a snapshot of current space weather conditions based on latest products from the SWE Network.
Sign In	The tweet window below presents news and updates relation to the Service pages.
Request For Registration	
	Tweets by mesaspaceweather
	ESA Space Weather
	The Earth is currently under the influence of a high speed solar wind stream, @CF2.Poixtam reported moderate geomagnetic storming with kp6 this morning with intest data showing this now decreasing. Keep up to date with @ORB_KSB F3DC's daily builden: swe ssa esa inflweb guerethick.

Figure 3: ESA SSA portal (<u>http://swe.ssa.esa.int/</u>).



Figure 4: ESA SSA SSO

After sign-in, click on the ESC Space Radiation Tab under the Expert Service Centres menu on the right side of the ESA SSA portal. Then, click on the Contribution Tabs and choose the services provided by Athens Neutron Monitor Station (UoA / ANEMOS). DYASTIMA is the Federated product R.137.

Ceesa space si	tuational awareness	European Space Agency
ESA SSA SWE NEO SST		
About SWE	Space Radiation Expert Service Centre (R-ESC)	
What is Space Weather		
ISA Space Weather Activities	ESC Objective Contributions On tributors	
Ourrent Space Weather	Current products provided by the RESC and available in SWE services:	
Contact		
Service Domains	Athens Neutron Monitor Station (UoA/ANeMoS)	
Spacecraft Design		
Jpacecraft Operation	Allottos • R.102 GLE alert+ service	
Human Spacersgnt	R.100 Multi-station neutron monitor data	
Launch Operation	<ul> <li>R.137 DV namic Atmospheric Shower Tracking Interactive Model Application (DrASTIMA) [Corning soon]</li> </ul>	
Transionospheric Radio Linic		
space surveisance and tracking		
Hower systems Operation	<ul> <li>BIRA-IASB Space Weather Services (BIRA-IASB)</li> </ul>	
Arrenes Besource Evaluitation Sustem Operation	Beliek Antanzis Concert(19(2)/840)	
Roeline Operation	· and market of a set (more and)	
Auroral Tourism Sector	Center for Space Radiations (UCL/CSR)	
General Data Service	Denastreet Earliston Biology (D) B-1841	
Expert Service Centres	0	
ESC Solar Weather	Mullard Space Science Laboratory (UCL/MSSL)	
ES on an ospharts through a specific and the specific and	Deul Roadhler (DR)	
ESC Space Radiation		
End lessesherik literather	<ul> <li>Radiation Hardness Assurance and Space Weather (SL/RAS)</li> </ul>	
ESC Geomegnetic Conditions	<ul> <li>Snare Research Laboratory, Denastment of Divisios and Astronomy (UTU/SRL)</li> </ul>	
Other Resources		
Documents	SWE Data Centre (ESOC/SWE Portal)	
SWWT	UK Met Office (UKMO)	
SWEN NewsLetter		
Upcoming Events		
Sign-In		
You are not signed in.		
aign In		
Request For Registration		

Figure 5: The Federated product DYASTIMA under the services of UoA / ANEMOS at the R-ESC.

On DYASTIMA homepage, the user can find the basic information about the DYASTIMA product. Through the navigation menu on the top of the page, by clicking on each tab, a new page is displayed, providing access to the corresponding material.

About SWE		Federated pro	ducts from the Athe	ns Neutron Mon	itor Station (LIOA)	
What is Space Weather		r outrates pro				
SSA Space Weather Activities						
Ourrent Space Weather	(P)				1.000	
Contact		21				
Service Domains 🕜	After Texture Busine Texture	(C. 10. 10. 11)			DY	ASTIMA
Spacecraft Design						
Spacecraft Operation						
Humen Space Flight						
Launch Operation	Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments
Transionospheric Radio Link						
Space Surveilance and Tracking	Dynamic Atmosp	oheric Shower T	racking Interactiv	e Model Applica	tion	
Power Systems Operation		and a shower the	- inclucio			
Airlines	DYnamic Atmospheric	Shower Tracking I	nteractive Model Applic	ation (DYASTIMA) i	s a standalone softy	are application for the
Resource Exploitation System Operation	simulation of the case	ades produced in the	atmosphere of a plane	t due to cosmic rays	propagation. It is im	plemented in Geant4 by
Pipeline Operation	the Athens Cosmic Ra	y Group. The input,	provided by the user, ca	an be easily paramet	erized via a very use	friendly Graphical User
Auroral Tourism Sector	Interface (GUI). The o	utput of DYASTIMA p	rovides all the necessar	y information about 1	the cascade, such as r	iumber, direction, arrival
General Data Service	simulations can be ne	rformed on the ICRU	sohere (International C	commission on Radia	tion Units and Measu	ements) or on a human
Expert Service Centres	phantom in order to p	erform radiation dose	calculations.			
ESC Solar Weather						
ESC Heliospheric Weather			80	an damada	1. I.	
ESC Space Radiation			07			
ESC Ionospheric Weather			and The	and the		
ESC Geometrie Conditions			1 to	and the se		
Other Resources			Thend	10161		
Documents			A. 7 . 7 .	ch Hair		
SWWT			and a	7/14		
SWEN NewsLetter			1. 7			
Upcoming Events				- manath		
Sign-In			Collection of the local distance of the loca	- tations		
You are not signed in.			En la constante de la constante	and the state of t		
Sign In			rigure: Cosmic ray case	ages in the atmosphere		
Request For Registration						
	In this web page the u	user can find all the n	ecessary information ab	out DYASTIMA, distri	buted in the following	sections:
	- TEACT: Devider			The Feb as DWARTING	a sufficiency to show any	lable there
	<ul> <li>"PAQ": Provides</li> <li>"Database": Provides</li> </ul>	wides results from pro	e most common issues.	mulation scenarios	A sortware is also ava	lable there.
	<ul> <li>"Request": A for</li> </ul>	m where the user is a	able to request a specific	c scenario run, not a	vailable in the databas	e.
		tracker is list of calmar	Have an applications on small	the set that the three sections	the second second second second	
	<ul> <li>"Publications": P</li> </ul>	TOVIDED & HEL OF FRIEV	and publications as wen	as a link to the sorty	vare user manual.	

Figure 6: DYASTIMA Federated product homepage

On the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) tab, information about the most common issues is provided. Additionally, the link to DYASTIMA software is also available here (Question 2).

A.Ne.Mc	1.S.			DY	ASTIMA
Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments
Frequently Asked	d Questions				
1. What is DYASTIM	A?				
2. How can I downlo	ad DYASTIMA?				
3. Why DYASTIMA is	implemented in Ge	ant4?			
4. What are the requ	irements to perforn	n the simulation?			
5. Is it necessary to	install DYASTIMA?				
6. Is it necessary to	install Geant4 to pe	rform the simulatior	1?		
7. What does DYAST	'IMA-R stand for?				
8. Are the DYASTIM	A-R results validated	1?			
9. Which are the inp	ut parameters?				
10. Where the prima	ary cosmic ray spect	rum can be found?			
11. Where the atmos	spheric structure ca	n be found?			
12. Why the planet's	s magnetic field is ne	ecessary?			
13. Where the plane	t's magnetic field ca	n be found?			
14. Which is the out	put of DYASTIMA?				
15. How to set up a	simulation scenario	,			

#### Figure 7: DYASTIMA Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) Tab





In order to download DYASTIMA software click on the link provided here ("click here") and automatically you will be redirected to the webpage of A.Ne.Mo.S. (http://cosray.phys.uoa.gr/index.php/dyastima). After clicking on "here" in the middle of A.Ne.Mo.S. page, a pop-up window opens for the downloading of DYASTIMA software.



Figure 9: The A.Ne.Mo.S. portal (<u>http://cosray.phys.uoa.gr/index.php/dyastima</u>).

At the Database Tab, the user can find a table of results for different planets. In the initial phase, there are two scenarios available for Earth, one for solar minimum and one for solar maximum conditions. The Database will be enriched with more scenarios for Earth, as well as for other planets, such as Venus, Mars and Saturn.

A.Ne.N	fo.S atim (Ans Mil 5)			DY	ASTIMA
Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments
Database					
In this section, res conditions for the p scenario is given alo	ults of previous runs a lanet, the atmosphere, t ng with the correspondir	are provided. Each ru the cosmic ray spectra ng results.	n corresponds to a s a and the simulation p	specific simulation so parameters. A descrip	cenario, hence, specific otion of each simulation
Earth	SOLAR MINIMUM SOLAR MAXIMUM				
Venus	coming_soon				

Figure 10: DYASTIMA Database Tab

In order to access the results, click on the available scenarios. In the right panel, the followings appear:

- **4** A description of the specific simulation scenario.
- An info text file regarding the input of the simulation as well as a list of .csv files corresponding to the specific simulation scenario. The files include the results for radiation dose, energy deposit, energy, and direction and arrival time at each altitude. Depending on the size of the results, the results of each case are splitted in .csv files of ~5MB.

The references of the scenario settings.
 In order to download a specific file, just click on it.



Figure 11: Results of a specific flight scenario at the DYASTIMA Database Tab.

At the Request Tab, the user can request a specific scenario run, through the available form. In order to submit the request, the user has to provide the scenario description, the purpose and the area of interest of the specific scenario, references as well as a simulation input file. This file should include basic information about the scenario, such as the cosmic ray spectra, the atmospheric profile etc. When all the input parameters are filled, check the "I accept all terms and conditions" box and click on "Submit".

Once the request is submitted successfully a confirmation email will be sent to the user.

A.Ne.Mo.	S			DY	ASTIMA	
Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments	
Request						
Feel free to suggest a scenario as an addition to our database. Your proposal must include the following: a. A statement of the objectives and the usage purpose of the specific scenario b. The necessary inputs for the simulation. These may be provided through a file (.xls, xlsx, .doc, .docx, .pdf) filled with the necessary information. If this is not possible you can provide us with references containing the necessary inputs.						
All requested scenarios u The users will be informe	undergo an evaluatio ed by email when the	n process. The results of results are available.	f the ones that are sin	nulated will be found	in the Database section.	
Please fill in the requ	est form. Fields wit	th (*) are mandatory.				
Request					1	
Scenario descript	tion(*)					
Purpose of scena	ario(*)			.:		
Area of inter	·est(*)					
Referen	ces(*)					
Simulation	n input Upload (Maximum	n file size is 5 MB)				
(Maximum Nie size is 5 MB)  Terms and conditions  1) Please use the following references when publishing results that have been produced by this site. Additionally, we would like to hear from you regarding when and where your paper will be published. a. P. Paschalis et al., New Astronomy, 33, 26-37, 2014 ( <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.new.ast.2014.04.009</u> ) b. Geant4 according to the conditions indicated at <u>https://geant4.web.cem.ch/</u> 2) Results of the requested scenario will be available in the database for any (further or future) use to all users. 3) Submission of the application does not imply an obligation of implementation. All applications will undergo an evaluation process.  I accept all terms and conditions. After successful submission, an automatic confirmation will be sent to the provided email address. In case you do not receive this message, please contact the helpdesk at <u>helpdesk.swe@ssa.esa.int</u> Submit						

Figure 12: The Request form available at the DYASTIMA Request Tab.

A request for a simulation has been submitted to https://dyastima.phys.uoa.gr with the following information:
Scenario description Solar minimum
Purpose of scenario Study of the cascades
Area of interest Dosimetry
References -
Simulation input
According to the <b>Terms and the conditions</b> , submission of the application does not imply an obligation of implementation. All applications will undergo an evaluation process. We will contact you in case more information is required.
Kind regards, DYASTIMA Team

Figure 13: Example of the confirmation email after submitting a scenario request.

At the Publications Tab, a list of publications, conferences as well as related material are available. The link of the User Manual is also provided through this tab. The User Manual can also be accessed through the ANeMoS portal.

Finally, at the Acknowledgments Tab, the Acknowledgments and rules regarding the use of data are provided.

A.Ne.Ma	1. <b>S</b>			DY	ASTIMA
Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments
Publications					
User Manual					
<ul> <li>The Software Us</li> </ul>	er Manual for DYASTI	MA can be found <u>here</u>			
Publications					
<ul> <li>Paschalis P., Mav ray showers in t</li> <li>Paschalis P., Tez different solar ar [physics.space-p</li> </ul>	rromichalaki H., Dorma he Earth's atmosphere zari A., Gerontidou M nd galactic cosmic ray h], 2016.	an L.I., Plainaki C., Tsir s", New Astronomy 33, 1., Mavromichalaki H., activities", XXV ECRS	rigkas D.: "Geant4 soft 26-37, 2014. Nikolopoulou P.: "Sp 2016 Proceedings - eC	ware application for the vace Radiation exposition for the transition of transition	he simulation of cosmic ure calculations during )8937

#### Figure 14: DYASTIMA Publications Tab.

A.Ne.Mo.S       American Material Material						
Home	FAQ	Database	Request	Publications	Acknowledgments	
Acknowledgments						
This web page forms part of the ESA Space Situational Awareness Programme's network of space weather service development activities and is supported under ESA contract number 4000113187/15/D/MRP. For further product-related information or enquiries contact helpdesk. E-mail: <u>helpdesk.swe@ssa.esa.int</u>						
contact helpdesk. E-mail: <u>helpdesk.swe@ssa.esa.int</u> All publications and presentations using data obtained from this site should acknowledge the Athens Neutron Monitor Station of National and Kapodisrtian University of Athens and The ESA Space Situational Awareness Programme. For further information about space weather in the ESA Space Situational Awareness Programme see: <u>www.esa.int/spaceweather</u>						
Access the SSA-SWE po	ortal here: <u>http://swe</u>	e.ssa.esa.int				

The link for downloading the User Manual is also available here.

Figure 15: DYASTIMA Acknowledgments Tab.

#### 3. Installation

#### 3.1. How to install DYASTIMA

To have access to DYASTIMA software, it is necessary to subscribe as a user at the ESA SWE ESC Space Radiation (<u>http://swe.ssa.esa.int/space-radiation</u>), following the SSO (single sign-on) procedure. Then, sign in and click on the DYASTIMA product (as it is hown in Chapter 2), in order to visit the dedicated DYASTIMA webpage.

Once you are at the dedicated DYASTIMA webpage, you will be able to download the DYASTIMA software by clicking on the link that you will find at the homepage. You will be re-directed to the Athens Neutron Monitor Station (A.Ne.Mo.S.) portal for DYASTIMA. There you can download DYASTIMA. DYASTIMA is a free software with the only requirement to use the references provided in Page 2 of this document. The User Manual can easily be downloaded at the homepage, too.

#### 3.2. Requirements

DYASTIMA is a GUI-based application, developed in Microsoft Visual Studio. As a result, a Microsoft Windows operating system and the .NET library are required. The Geant4 library and Geant4 datasets are also required. DYASTIMA can automatically download all the required files of Geant4 and set the necessary environmental variables. The current version of DYASTIMA uses the version 10.4 of Geant4 and the corresponding datasets. The graphical user interface is presented in Figure 16.

For the execution of DYASTIMA, it is optimal to use an over mid-range computer. Commonly, the results of a simulation run require about 100 MB of disk space, depending strongly on the desired collected output. The required disk space may be increased in case of several tracking layers and/or in case the horizontal position of the particles is recorded, as well as in the case of radiation dosimetry calculations.

DYASTIMA - Simulation of cosmic ray showers in	the atmospheres of planets - V2.1		- 0	×
Previous	scenario 4 of 11 🔀	Next		
Scenario ID: EA	RTH_SOLAR_MAXIMUM_5GV ?	Check		
Planet Spectrum Simulation Energy Cuts Results				
Planet Settings ?	Atmospheric Composition ?	Atmospheri	c Temperatu	re ?
Planet Radius (Km): 6371	Previous section 1 of 1 📕 Next	Altitude (m)	Temperature ('C	
Surface Descure (share) 1012.25	Starting altitude (m): 0	0	15	
Surface Pressure (mbar): 1013.25	Ending altitude (m): 86000 ?	11000	-56.5	- 10
Surface g (m/s²): 9.80665 ?	Molecule Abundance (% Vol)	20000	-56.5	- 10
North Magnetic Field (nT): 27134.9	N <sub>2</sub> 78	47000	-44.5	- 10
East Manualia Rold (cT): 1907.9	O <sub>2</sub> 21	51000	-2.5	- 10
East Magnetic Field (F1): 1007.0	Ar 1	71000	-58.5	- 10
Vertical Magnetic Field (nT): 36378.3 ?		86000	-88.5	- 10
Surface Type: NONE 🗸 ?				
Geant4 dll folder: C:\code recovery\GEANT4_10_4_	2\Geant4-10.4 ? Browse Download			
Const. Adverter Clonde measure//GEANTA 10.4	2 datasets 2 Rowse Download			
Gearce Galasets. C. Code recovery (dEAIN14_10_4_	2 Gatasets P Growse Commodul			
Simulation Frank David State				
Sinddorf Eport Results Dosinicay			_	
Run ID: NEW RUN: Current Scenario	~ ?	Events :		
Test Geometry				
	Simulate			
	CHINARO			
© Athens Cosmic Ray Station 2014-2018				

Figure 16: A snapshot of the DYASTIMA GUI.

#### 4. Execution

#### 4.1. General information

#### 4.1.1. Input

The simulation requires several input parameters, categorized as following:

- general characteristics of the planet (radius, surface type, surface magnetic field, surface pressure and surface gravitational acceleration) <u>structure of the</u> <u>atmosphere (composition, temperature profile)</u>
- spectra (particle types, flux, zenith and azimuth range)
- settings regarding Geant4 and the simulation geometry (simulation area width, geometry model, division of the atmosphere, physics list, production range cut, beam altitude)
- altitudes in which the tracking of particles is performed
- <u>optional energy cuts</u> for the production, simulation or tracking of particles.

If the user also wishes to perform radiation dosimetry calculations some more input parameters are required, such as the phantom's dimensions and material.

As already mentioned, the simulation scenario is described by a user-friendly GUI. Help buttons provide ? the necessary information at every step and guide the user for the correct input of the parameters through the simulation process.

#### 4.1.2. Output

Regarding the output, DYASTIMA executes the simulation of a specific scenario for a number of primary cosmic ray particles (events) defined by the user, providing all the necessary information about the air showers (Figure 17). Resume of a finished or a stopped run is also supported. For radiation dosimetry calculations, a second simulation is performed with the DYASTIMA-R extension (Figure 18).

Finally, the user can test the simulation scenario and geometry by simulating one event for a specific particle, energy and incoming direction. The geometry test creates a .heprep file that can be viewed by the HepRApp browser (http://www.slac.stanford.edu/~perl/HepRApp/).



Figure 18: DYASTIMA-R output

#### 4.2. Description of the simulation scenario

After the installation of DYASTIMA, run the DYASTIMA.exe in order to access the GUI. For better description of the usage, the following figures show a testing simulation scenario. For a simulation scenario the user should define the required parameters that are distributed in the tabs of the GUI.

#### 4.2.1. Scenario ID

The user can describe several simulation scenarios by using the buttons at the top of the form, as shown in figure 19. Each simulation scenario should have an ID. There is a button for checking the validity of the parameters that describe the scenario.

Previous	scenario 4 of 11		Next
Scenario ID:	EARTH_SOLAR_MAXIMUM_5GV	?	Check

Figure 19: Buttons for navigation among the different simulation scenarios

#### 4.2.2. Planet tab

In this tab, the user can define the characteristics and the atmosphere of the planet, as shown in Figure 20.

#### Planet Settings:

- Planet Radius: the radius of the planet in kilometres
- **Surface Pressure**: Surface pressure of the planet in mbar.
- **Gravitational Acceleration**: Surface Gravitational acceleration in m/s<sup>2</sup>.
- <u>North Magnetic Field</u>: North-South component of the magnetic field at the planet's surface in nT. Positive values are towards the North direction.
- <u>East Magnetic Field</u>: East-West component of the magnetic field at the planet's surface in nT. Positive values are towards the East direction.
- Vertical Magnetic Field: Downward-Upward component of the magnetic field at the planet's surface in nT. Positive values are towards the downward direction.
- Surface Type: The surface type of the planet beneath the atmosphere. Selection among NONE GROUND SEA.

Information about the characteristics of a planet can be easily found online or in reference books. Some indicative examples are the following:

- <u>Earth (https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/planetary/factsheet/earthfact.html)</u>
- Venus (https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/planetary/factsheet/venusfact.html)
- <u>Mars (https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/planetary/factsheet/marsfact.html)</u>.

The values of the north, east and vertical Earth's magnetic field are available by NOAA (<u>http://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/geomag/</u>).

#### **Atmospheric Composition:**

The user should define sequential sections from the bottom to the top of the atmosphere. For each section the user should define:

- **4** the <u>starting and the ending altitude</u> of the section in meters.
- the <u>composition of the section</u> in Molecule type Abundance(%Vol) pairs. Abundances in each layer should sum to 100%.

#### Atmospheric temperature:

The user should define <u>Altitude(m) - Temperature(°C) pairs</u> from the bottom to the top of the atmosphere.

A good approximation of the Earth's atmosphere is provided by:

- The US Standard Atmosphere [9]
- + the International Standard Atmosphere [10].

Both models are identical up to 32 km from the Earth's surface. It should be noted that these models are based on average conditions at middle geographic latitudes.

Planet Spectrum Simulation	Energy Cuts	Results					
Planet Se	ttings <mark>?</mark>		Atmospheri	c Composition	?	Atmosphe	ric Temperature <mark>?</mark>
Planet Radius (Km): 6	371	?	Previous sec	tion 1 of 1 🔣 🛛 Ne	ext	Altitude (m)	Temperature (°C)
			Starting altitude	(m): 0	?	0	15
Surface Pressure (mbar): 1013.25 ?			Ending attrude (m): 86000			11000	-56.5
Surface a (m/s <sup>3</sup> ): 9 80665		2	2			20000	-56.5
			Molecule	Abundance (% Vol)		32000	-44.5
North Magnetic Field (nT): 2	7134.9	?	N <sub>2</sub>	78		47000	-2.5
East Magnetic Field (nT):	807.8	2	O <sub>2</sub>	21		51000	-2.5
			Ar	1		71000	-58.5
Vertical Magnetic Field (nT): 3	6378.3	?				86000	-88.5
Surface Type: N	IONE ~	?					



#### 4.2.3. Spectrum tab

The spectrum of several particles of the cascade can be defined as shown in Figure 21. For each spectrum the user should define:

- the <u>particle name</u> according to Geant4 notation
- **4** the minimum and maximum <u>zenith angles</u> of the incoming particles in degrees
- **the minimum and maximum** <u>azimuth angles</u> of the incoming particles in degrees
- the <u>differential spectrum</u> in Energy/nucleon Flux pairs. Units are MeV/n Particles/(m<sup>2</sup>·Sr·s·MeV/n) respectively.

Planet	Spectrum	Simulation	Energy C	uts Results				
				Spectra 🤅	top of t	the Atmosphere	?	
				Previous	particle '	1 of 2 📕 Nex	t.	
					[	Energy (MeV/nuc)	Particles/(m².Sr.s.MeV/nuc)	^
		Particle I	Name: ior	11	?	5.00381	70.658	
						5.07335	68.999	
		Min Zenith	(deg): 0		?	5.14385	67.369	
		Max Zenith	(deg): 90		?	5.21534	65.768	
						5.28782	64.195	
		Min Azimuth	(deg): 0		?	5.36131	63.048	
		Max Azimuth	(deg): 36	0	?	5.43582	61.52	
						5.51136	60.02	×

Figure 21: Example of the Spectrum Tab

It is noted that the differential spectrum is integrated numerically to calculate the total flux that is used in the normalization of the results. Linear interpolation is considered during the integration. Therefore, the user should define the points of the spectrum densely for accurate results. According to the General Particle Source documentation, used in Geant4 simulations, the maximum number of the defined points is 1024.

The fluxes of the galactic cosmic ray particles (Z=1 to Z=26), therefore the differential primary cosmic ray spectrum, can be calculated by the user with several models. Indicative examples are the ISO-15390 model [11], the CRÈME96 model [12][13][14] and the Nymmik et al. model [15]. These models are available by various online tools, such as:

- SPENVIS, <u>https://www.spenvis.oma.be/</u> by BIRA-IASB and ESA, where the user can find all the models mentioned above
- CRÈME (<u>https://creme.isde.vanderbilt.edu/</u>) by Vanderbilt University, where one can find the CRÈME96 and the Nymmik et al. model
- OMERE, (<u>http://www.trad.fr/en/space/omere-software/</u>) by TRAD, where one can find the ISO-15390 and the CRÈME96 model.

#### 4.2.4. Simulation Tab

In this tab, the user is able to define several simulation parameters, concerning the geometry of the simulation as well as the atmospheric tracking layer where the simulation is performed.

#### **Simulation Settings**

- Simulation Area Width: the horizontal dimension of the simulation area in Km. Representative value is 500-800 Km.
- Geometry Model: Selection between FLAT SPHERE for the shape of the atmosphere.
- <u>Air Density Change</u>: Percentage decrease (%) of the density within the layers, used for the division of the atmosphere in slices. Representative value is 5%.
- <u>Physics</u>: Reference physics list of Geant4 that is used in the simulation. Optimal physics lists are predefined (FTFP\_BERT\_HP, QGSP\_BERT\_HP, QGSP\_BIC\_HP). The user can declare another reference physics list than the predefined ones.
- Range Cut: Production range cut of the particles in meters. Particles of a range smaller than the range cut are not produced. Optimal value is 1m. Small values increase accuracy with a trade-off to performance.
- **Spectrum Altitude**: Altitude of the particle source in meters.

#### **Tracking Layers**

Tracking Layers are the altitudes in which the tracking of particles is performed. The layers can be defined either in altitude (m) or in atmospheric depth ( $g/cm^2$ ).



Figure 22: Example of the Simulation Tab

#### 4.2.5. Energy Cuts Tab

In this tab, optional energy cuts for the production, simulation and/or tracking of particles can be defined. Particles with energy smaller than the defined one are excluded from the production, simulation and/or tracking respectively. The user should define pairs of Particle name (Geant4 notation) - Energy (MeV). A negative energy value excludes the particles completely.

Planet	Spectrur	n Simulati	ion Energy (	Cuts Resu	ts					
	I	Producti	on Cut	?	Sim	ulation Cut	?	Trackin	g Cut ?	
		Particle Name	Cut Energy (MeV)		Partic Name	le Cut Ener (MeV)	ay	Particle Name	Cut Energy (MeV)	
			_	_				_		

Figure 23: Example of the Energy Cuts Tab

#### 4.2.6. Results Tab

In this tab, the user can define the histogram's bin range at the tracking layers of the simulation. Specifically, the parameters are:

- Energy, which is the energy range bin of particles at each tracking layer. The option Log Energy Bin provides the opportunity of categorizing the particles in bins in logarithmic scale.
- <u>Zenith angle</u> and <u>azimuth angle</u>, which corresponds to the zenith angle and azimuth angle range bins respectively of particles at each tracking layer.
- Time, which is the arrival time range bins of particles at each tracking layer. The option Log Time Bin provides the opportunity of categorizing the particles in bins in logarithmic scale.

- Energy of new particles at production time, which corresponds to the energy range bins of particles at production time and altitude. The option of categorizing the particles in bins in logarithmic scale is available by clicking on <u>Log Energy Bin</u>.
- Track spatial distribution, corresponding to the tracking of the horizontal position of particles. This option is useful for directional beams in order to study the horizontal dimension of the shower. It is noted that tracking may increase the required disc space significantly.
- Longitude and latitude direction distance, which are the longitudinal and latitudinal range bins respectively of particles at each atmospheric layer.

Finally, if the user desires to perform radiation dosimetry calculations with the second simulation by DYASTIMA-R, the data can be stored by ticking the check box.



Figure 24: Example of the Results Tab

#### 4.2.7. Geant4 Required Files

The current version of DYASTIMA uses the version 10.4 of Geant4 and the corresponding datasets. The user can download the necessary files from Geant4's webpage or download them by using the form. There is no need to download the entire Geant4 toolkit since DYASTIMA can automatically download all the required files of Geant4 and set the necessary environmental variables. The user should declare the folders in which the Geant4 dlls (bin folder) and Geant4 datasets are located.



Figure 25: Required Geant4 datasets directly available for downloading by DYASTIMA.

#### 4.3. Execution of the simulation scenario

#### 4.3.1. Simulation Tab

The user selects from the "Run ID" drop-down menu the scenario that will be simulated. The "NEW RUN: Current Scenario" choice as well as previous simulations that may exist are shown in the drop-down menu, providing the possibility of resume. The user can start a new run of the current scenario or continue a previous one. The number of events for the simulation is also defined. Finally, the geometry of the scenario for a specific particle, energy and direction can be tested.

Simulation Export Results Dosimetry Extension		
Run ID: NEW RUN: Current Scenario	× ?	Events :
Test Geometry		
	Simulate	

Figure 26: Starting / resuming a simulation scenario.

If a new run is selected, the scenario is checked by pressing the simulation button. Possible errors or invalid parameters are indicated to the user. If the scenario is valid, the scenario ID is associated with the current date and time and a new folder with this name is created in the results folder of DYASTIMA. This folder contains three files:

- the sqlite database file
- a .txt file containing the parameters of the scenario
- 🜲 a .txt file containing the output of Geant4

If the user proceeds with DYASTIMA-R, two more files will be added to the folder:

- the sqlite database file for dosimetry calculations
- **4** a .txt file containing the output of Geant4 for dosimetry calculations.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
EARTH_SOLAR_MINIMUM_0GV_12-11-2018_12-18-23	12/11/2018 12:21	Data Base File	8,408 KB
EARTH_SOLAR_MINIMUM_0GV_12-11-2018_12-18-23_DOSIMETRY	12/11/2018 12:40	Data Base File	16,328 KB
EARTH_SOLAR_MINIMUM_0GV_12-11-2018_12-18-23_DOSIMETRY_output	12/11/2018 12:40	Text Document	37 KB
EARTH_SOLAR_MINIMUM_0GV_12-11-2018_12-18-23_output	12/11/2018 12:18	Text Document	38 KB
INFO_EARTH_SOLAR_MINIMUM_0GV_12-11-2018_12-18-23	12/11/2018 12:18	Text Document	148 KB

Figure 27: The files created for the simulation.

The simulation procedure is performed via a console application (Figure 18). For each event the application indicates the particle that enters the atmosphere, the energy, the time spent for the processing of the event and the estimated remaining time. The results of the simulation are flushed every 3 minutes in .db file while any message from Geant4 is written in the output .txt file. In case of testing the geometry, the simulation is performed for the one particle and a .heprep file is generated in the folder of the run.

Select C:\Users\anastasia\Desktop\DYASTIMA\DYASTIMA_RELEASE\DYASTIMA_files\DYASTIMA_SI	MULATION.exe
<pre>////////////////////////////////////</pre>	       
<pre>// in the second is because application for the first second is a second</pre>	// // //
<pre>// 1) Geant4 collaboration, "Geant4 - a simulation toolkit", // NIM A, Volume 506, Issue 3, 250-303, 2003 // 2) Geant4 collaboration, "Geant4 developments and applications", // IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Volume 53, No.1, 270-278, 2006 ///////////////////////////////////</pre>	       
Geant4 is being initializing. This may take a few seconds	
Processing Event 1/10000 Particle: proton , Energy: 0.341869 GeV Event took 0.01 seconds Estimating remaining time 99.99 seconds	
Processing Event 2/10000 Particle: proton , Energy: 2.35741 GeV Event took 0.476 seconds Estimating remaining time 2429.51 seconds	
Processing Event 3/10000 Particle: proton , Energy: 10.5118 GeV Event took 1.912 seconds Estimating remaining time 7990.94 seconds	
Processing Event 4/10000 Particle: proton , Energy: 0.238892 GeV Event took 0.003 seconds Estimating remaining time 6000.1 seconds	

Figure 28: DYASTIMA console application.

#### 4.3.2. Export Results Tab

The results of a simulation run are collected in the corresponding file of the sqlite database. There are VIEWS defined in the database that transform the collected raw results according to the format of Figures 27 and 28. An experienced user can use any sqlite browser and access the results by sending simple SQL queries.

However, DYASTIMA provides functionality for exporting the results to .csv files. The user selects the ID of the simulation, the category of the results, the altitude and the type of particle. The category of results includes the following:

- Energy of new particles at production
- Energy at tracking layers
- Time at tracking layers
- Direction at tracking layers
- Position at tracking layers
- Energy deposition at tracking layers.

Since several records may be available and in order to avoid creating huge .csv files that are not functional, the user has to define the line limit after which the .csv file will be split. The .csv files are stored in folder /CSVs of the simulation folder.

Simulation	Export Results	Dosimetry Exte	nsion			
Results ID	:				× ?	
Category	:		~			
Altitude (m	):	✓ Particle:	~		Split file after line: 50000 ?	
				Export	l	

Figure 29: Example of the Export Results Tab.

#### 4.3.3. Dosimetry Extension Tab

To perform radiation dosimetry calculation, a second simulation with the DYASTIMA-R extension will be performed. The quantities calculated are the dose rate (Gy/sec) and equivalent dose rate (Sv/sec) at each atmospheric layer, based on the ICRP [16][17] and ICRU [18] standards.

First of all, the user has to register data for dosimetry (See 3.2.6.). Then the ID scenario has to be selected. The simulation settings concern:

- <u>Number of iterations</u>, which corresponds to the number of interactions of the collected particles at each tracking layer with the phantom
- Reference physics list of Geant4 that is used in the simulation. Optimal physics lists are predefined (FTFP\_BERT\_HP, QGSP\_BERT\_HP, QGSP\_BIC\_HP).
- Phantom, where the user is able to define the phantom dimensions (height and width) as well as the phantom material. The option of a reference phantom (ICRU sphere) is also available.

Simulation Export Results Dosin	netry Extension		
Run ID:		× ?	
Physics List: FTFP_BERT_HP	✓ # of iterations: 5		
Phantom height (m): 1.25	Phantom width (m): 0.12	Phantom material:	ICRU sphere
	Simulate	Export	

Figure 30: Example of the Dosimetry Extension Tab.

#### 5. References

#### **<u>References</u>**:

- [1] Paschalis P., Mavromichalaki H., Dorman L.I., Plainaki C., Tsirigkas D.: "Geant4 software application for the simulation of cosmic ray showers in the Earth's atmosphere", New Astronomy 33, 26-37, 2014.
- [2] Agostinelli S., Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Geant4-a simulation toolkit", Nucl. Inst. Meth. A 506, 250-303, 2003.
- [3] Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Geant4 developments and applications", IEEE Trans. Nuclear Sci. 53, 270-278, 2006.
- [4] Allison J., Amako K., Apostolakis J. et al. (Geant4 collaboration): "Recent developments in Geant4", Nucl. Inst. & Meth. A 835, 186-225, 2016.
- [5] Dorman L.I., Paschalis P., Plainaki C., Mavromichalaki H.: "Estimation of cosmic ray ionization in the Earth's atmosphere during GLE71", Proc. 34th ICRC 2015
- [6] Plainaki C., Paschalis P., Grassi D., Mavromichalaki H., Andriopoulou M.: "Interactions of cosmic rays with the Venusian atmosphere during different solar activity conditions", Annales Geophysicae 34, 595-608, 2016.
- [7] Paschalis P., Tezari A., Gerontidou M., Mavromichalaki H., Nikolopoulou P.: "Space Radiation exposure calculations during different solar and galactic cosmic ray activities", XXV ECRS 2016 Proceedings - eConf TBA, arXiv:1612.08937 [physics.space-ph], 2016.
- [8] Paschalis P., Tezari A., Gerontidou M., Mavromichalaki H., Ioannidou S.: "Space radiation exposure simulations during different phases of solar activity", HPS 50th Midyear Meeting 2017, Maryland
- [9] International Civil Aviation Organization: "Manual of The ICAO Standard Atmosphere", Doc 7488-CD third ed., 1993.
- [10] U.S. Government Printing Office: "U.S. Standard Atmosphere", 1976.
- [11] ISO 15390:2004, "Space environment (natural and artificial)-Galactic cosmic ray model", 2004
- [12] Tylka A.J., Adams J. H., Boberg Jr., P. R., Brownstein B., Dietrich W. F., Flueckiger E. O., Petersen E. L., Shea M. A., Smart D. F., Smith E. C.: "CREME96: A Revision of the Cosmic Ray Effects on Micro-Electronics Code", IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 44, 2150-2160, 1997.
- [13] Weller R.A., Mendenhall M. H., Reed R. A., Schrimpf R. D., Warren K. M., Sierawski B. D., Massengill L. W.: "Monte Carlo simulation of single event effects" IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 57, 1726-1746, 2010.
- [14] Mendenhall M. H. and Weller R. A.: "A probability-conserving cross-section biasing mechanism for variance reduction in Monte Carlo particle transport calculations", Nucl. Inst. Meth. A 667, 38-43, 2012.
- [15] Nymmik R.A., Panasyuk M.I., Suslov, A.A.: "Galactic cosmic ray flux simulation and prediction", Adv. Space Res. 17, 1996.

- [16] ICRP: "Radiological Protection from Cosmic Radiation in Aviation", ICRP Publication 123, Ann. ICRP 45, 1-48, 2016.
- [17] ICRP: "Assessment of Radiation Exposure of Astronauts in Space", ICRP Publication 123, Ann. ICRP 42, 2013.
- [18] ICRU: "Reference Data for the Validation of Doses from Cosmic-Radiation Exposure of Aircraft Crew", Journal of the ICRU 10, Report 84, Oxford University Press, 2010.

#### <u>Useful links</u>:

- ♣ Athens Cosmic Ray Group, <u>http://cosray.phys.uoa.gr/</u>
- ESA SWE SSA R-ESC portal, <u>http://swe.ssa.esa.int/space-radiation</u>
- Geant4, <u>https://geant4.web.cern.ch/</u>
- SPENVIS, <u>https://www.spenvis.oma.be/</u>
- OMERE, <u>http://www.trad.fr/en/space/omere-software/</u>
- CRÈME, <u>https://creme.isde.vanderbilt.edu/</u>